THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED  
NOV 17 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Maitte Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000911

State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

Jeanette Tyonne Glover.....Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Minh L. Wyman (SC Bar #100381)  
Office of the First Circuit Public Defender  
190 Gibson Street  
P.O. Box 1112  
Orangeburg, SC 29116-1112  
Telephone (803) 536-4858  
Attorney for Appellant

Dated: November 17, 2017

**

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Whether the circuit court committed an error of law when it failed to find that Appellant was entitled to a directed verdict because the State did not know that it needed to disprove self-defense and failed to address the issue following a Rule 59(e) motion?**
  
- II. Whether the circuit court committed an error of law by concluding that a jury instruction on the law of self-defense was not required because all of the elements had not been met?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 9, 2015, Jeanette Glover was tried in Orangeburg Municipal Court before the Honorable Barney Houser and a jury. (R. p. 2). She was convicted of Criminal Domestic Violence and sentenced to complete a batterer's treatment program. (R. p. 1).

Jeanette Glover appealed her conviction and sentence on June 10, 2015. (R. p. 93).

Judge Houser's Return was filed on June 29, 2015. (R. pp. 2-3).

The Honorable Maite Murphy heard oral arguments regarding the appeal on September 28, 2015. (R. pp. 77-91).

On April 11, 2016, Judge Murphy issued a Form 4 Order affirming Glover's conviction. (R. p. 4).

For unknown reasons, Counsel did not receive notice of the entry of the Form 4 Order until January 13, 2017. On January 20, 2017, Counsel filed a Motion to Reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC. (R. pp. 98-111).

Judge Murphy issued a Form 4 Order dated March 30, 2017, and filed on April 12, 2017, which denied Appellant's Motion to Reconsider. (R. p. 5).

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on April 13, 2017.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This appeal arises out of a criminal appeal from the judgment and sentence of the municipal court. Appellant was charged with Criminal Domestic Violence following an incident on January 2, 2015. Public Safety Officers responded to a 911 call about a verbal dispute. (R. p. 2). Officer Gill testified that Mr. Glover told him that Mrs. Glover yelled at him and grabbed his face. (R. p. 2). Officer Gill also testified that Mrs. Glover told him that Mr. Glover hit her with a closed fist first and that Mrs. Glover told him that there was a history of domestic violence, which had resulted in Mr. Glover being arrested. (R. p. 6; Trial Audio Recording Track 02 at 23:19-23:51). The State then called Leroy Glover. Mr. Glover testified that he hit his wife first and that he got scratched when she was defending herself from him. (R. p. 6; Trial Audio Recording Track 02 at 27:58-28:10, 29:30-30:20, 31:53-32:08).

After the State rested its case, the Defense moved for a directed verdict on the grounds that the State did not disprove the elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. (R. p. 6; Trial Audio Recording Track 03 at 00:00-01:07). After hearing arguments from both parties, Judge Houser denied the motion explaining that the Defense had not given advance notice to the State of the theory of self-defense. (R. p. 6; Trial Audio Recording Track 03 at 02:42-02:46). Judge Houser reasoned that the Defendant's failure to disclose the theory of self-defense precluded the State the opportunity to know it had to disprove self-defense. (R. p. 6; Trial Audio Recording Track 03 at 05:29-05:53).

Defendant chose not to call any witnesses and rested her case. (R. p. 3). She requested a charge on self-defense. Judge Houser refused to instruct the jury on the law of self-defense and relied on his reasoning from his ruling on the directed verdict motion in support. (R. p. 3).

The case was then submitted to the jury. The jury requested clarification from the Court and ultimately returned a guilty verdict. (R. p. 3). Defendant was sentenced to complete a batterer's treatment program. (R. p. 1).

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL PRESENTED TO THE CIRCUIT COURT**

- I. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by refusing to grant Appellant's directed verdict motion on self-defense where the discovery produced by the State specifically indicated Appellant struck complaining witness because complaining witness struck her first, where uncontested trial testimony from the prosecution's own witness indicated Appellant acted in self-defense, and where the trial judge forbade invocation of self-defense, ruling that the burden was on the Appellant to "claim self-defense?"**
- II. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the law of self-defense where uncontested trial testimony from the prosecution's own witnesses, including complaining witness, indicated Appellant acted in self-defense, where the trial court ruled the burden was on Appellant to "claim self-defense" and where Appellant's defense rested on self-defense?**

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Appeals from a municipal court conviction are made to the circuit court. S.C. Code Ann. § 14-25-105 (Supp. 2006). The circuit court does not conduct a de novo review in criminal appeals from the municipal court. *Id.* The appellate court "is limited to correcting the circuit court's order for errors of law." *City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski*, 374 S.C. 12, 646 S.E.2d 879 (S.C. 2007).

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT COMMITTED AN ERROR OF LAW BY FAILING TO FIND THAT APPELLANT WAS ENTITLED TO A DIRECTED VERDICT AS A MATTER OF LAW IN LIGHT OF THE STATE'S OWN ADMISSION THAT THEY DID NOT KNOW THEY NEEDED TO DISPROVE SELF-DEFENSE**

Appellant's first issue for appeal was whether or not the trial court committed reversible error when it denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict. At the outset, it must be noted

that this issue was not addressed in the Form 4 Order or the Form 4 Order denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider.

The State admitted at trial during the directed verdict motion that it did not disprove the elements of self-defense and instead argued that it was the Defendant's burden to establish self-defense. The State's argument was based on a misunderstanding of which party has the burden of proof under the law of self-defense and a misplaced reliance on *State v. Davis*, 282 S.C. 45, 317 S.E.2d 452 (1984), which has since been overturned. Moreover, the trial judge denied the Appellant's motion for directed verdict because "no duty to disprove the elements of self-defense had arisen because State had no notice that the Defense was asserting this claim." (R. p. 94). Appellant respectfully submits that the trial judge's statement is a gross misstatement of the law of self-defense, and constitutes a clear error of law, as nothing in the Rules of Criminal Procedure requires a criminal defendant to give advance notice that he intends to rely on self-defense at trial. See S.C. Crim. P. 5 (providing that criminal defendant has duty to disclose alibi and insanity defense). Further, *State v. Dickey*, 394 S.C. 491, 716 S.E.2d 97 (S.C. 2011) requires that the State must disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt at the directed verdict stage when the uncontroverted facts establish self-defense as a matter of law. *Dickey*, 394 S.C. at 499, 716 S.E.2d at 101. Based on the record presented in this case, including the State's own witnesses, and even viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the State, the evidence establishes that the Appellant acted in self-defense as a matter of law as will be discussed in detail below.

**II. EVEN IF THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT MAKE AN ERROR OF LAW BY AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION REGARDING THE DIRECTED VERDICT MOTION, IT COMMITTED AN ERROR OF LAW WHEN IT AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION THAT A JURY INSTRUCTION ON SELF-DEFENSE WAS NOT REQUIRED.**

“It is well-settled the law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial, and if *any evidence* exists to support a charge, it should be given.” *State v. Burriss*, 334 S.C. 256, 262, 513 S.E.2d 104, 108 (1999) (emphasis added). “If there is *any evidence* of self-defense, the issue must be submitted to the jury.” *State v. Burkhardt*, 350 S.C. 252, 260, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002) (emphasis added). “Upon request, a defendant is entitled to a jury instruction on self-defense if he has produced evidence tending to show the four elements of that defense.” *Stone v. State*, 294 S.C. 286, 287, 363 S.E.2d 903, 904 (1988).

To establish self-defense in South Carolina, four elements must be present: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must have been in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, the defendant must show that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the belief that he was actually in imminent danger and that the circumstances were such as would warrant a person of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or the loss of his life; and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger.

*State v. Light*, 378 S.C. 641, 664 S.E.2d 465, 469 (2008). If there is more than “one reasonable inference” as to an element of self-defense, then the inference should “be resolved by the jury, not the court.” *State v. Jackson*, 384 S.C. 29, 681 S.E.2d 17 (Ct. App. 2009). “The trial judge commits reversible error if he or she fails to give a charge on an issue raised by the evidence and requested by the defendant.” *State v. Lee*, 298 S.C. 362, 364, 380 S.E.2d 834, 836 (1989).

Initially, it must be noted that the trial judge refused to provide a self-defense jury instruction because “there was no testimony from the Defense.” (R. p. 3). In other words, the trial judge refused the requested jury instruction because the Appellant did not take the stand. The circuit court committed an error of law when it failed to overturn this improper, and unconstitutional, burden shifting. While Appellant maintains this error is sufficient to overturn

the circuit court's decision, Appellant presented sufficient evidence on each element of self-defense to warrant to the requested jury instruction.

As to the first element of self-defense, Appellant was not at fault in bringing about the difficulty. The complaining witness testified that he struck the Appellant first. (R. p. 3). The State took issue with the fact that the complaining witness "recanted" his statement from the night in question during the trial. (R. p. 6). However, much like *State v. Jackson*, the credibility of the complaining witness's testimony was for the jury to decide.

During oral argument, the State focused heavily on the alleged lack of evidence of the second element of self-defense, the "belief" element. The State argued that *State v. Bruno* was controlling and justified the trial court's refusal to give a jury instruction on the law of self-defense. *Bruno* is distinguishable from the case at bar. In *State v. Bruno*, 322 S.C. 534, 473 S.E.2d 450 (1996), the defendant and victim were involved in a road rage incident. *Id.* The defendant then spotted victim's car at a gas station and instructed the driver to pull over. *Id.* Victim was rummaging through his truck while the parties engaged in a verbal altercation. *Id.* Victim was ultimately shot and killed. Defendant testified that "something snapped and I shot him." *Id.* There was no evidence that the Victim made any threatening moves towards the defendant. Accordingly, the court found that he failed to present any evidence that he believed he was in imminent danger; therefore, he was not entitled to a self-defense jury instruction. *Id.* at 537, 473 S.E.2d at 452.

In the present case, Officer Gill testified as to the previous history of domestic violence between Mr. Glover and Appellant and that Appellant was the victim. (R. p. 6; Trial Audio Recording Track 02 at 23:19-23:51). Further, Mr. Glover testified that he struck Appellant first and that she was defending herself. (R. p. 6; Trial Audio Recording Track 02 at 27:58-28:10, 29:30-30:20, 31:53-32:08). Based on the record in this case, Appellant was in such imminent

danger of serious bodily harm on the night in question. Appellant was entitled to act on reasonable appearances and was not required to wait for the situation to get worse. *See State v. Rash*, 182 S.C. 42, 188 S.E.2d 435 (1936) (“He doesn’t have to wait until his assailant gets the drop on him, he has the right to act under the law of self preservation and prevent his assailant getting the drop on him . . .”). Furthermore, the law of self-defense does not require the use of any “magic words” during trial testimony in order for a defendant to establish the elements of self-defense. Finally, the law of self-defense does not require the defendant to call any witnesses or take the stand. The State and the trial judge’s implications that this was at issue in the trial is a clear violation of the Appellant’s constitutional rights.

The third element of self-defense requires that a hypothetical reasonable person would have entertained the same belief. In the present case, a reasonable woman in Appellant’s circumstances would have believed that she needed to defend herself based on the fact that Mr. Glover struck her first and she had previously been a victim of domestic violence at his hands. *See State v. Day*, 341 S.C. 410, 535 S.E.2d 431 (2000).

Finally, it is well-established that there is “no duty to retreat where an attack occurs in one’s home.” *State v. Wiggins*, 330 S.C. 538, 548, 500 S.E.2d 489, 494 (1998). In the present case, the incident occurred in the marital home. The trial testimony established that Ms. Glover was struck first. Accordingly, there is no dispute as to the fourth element in this case.

In the present case, the trial court committed an error of constitutional proportions when it refused to give a jury instruction on self-defense because “there was no testimony from the defense.” The circuit court compounded that error when it incorrectly concluded that a self-defense instruction was not required.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, discussed in Issue I, Appellant Glover respectfully requests reversal of her conviction, and remand with instruction for entry of a directed verdict of acquittal. In the alternative, for the foregoing reasons, discussed in Issue II, Appellant Glover respectfully requests this Court reverse the circuit court and remand this case for a new trial.