THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

NOV 29 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2015-CP-38-00690  
Appellate Case No. 2017-000911

---

State of South Carolina,..... Respondent,

v.

Jeanette Tvonne Glover,..... Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP  
Jay T. Thompson  
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor  
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 799-2000

*Special Prosecutor  
Attorney for State of South Carolina*

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

**COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Did the circuit court properly affirm the municipal court's denial of a directed verdict in favor of Ms. Glover where she failed to raise self defense as a defense or to timely notify the State that she intended to present a defense of self defense at any point before moving for a directed verdict and where the evidence presented to the jury on the issue of self defense was controverted?
  
- II. Did the circuit court properly affirm the municipal court's exclusion of Ms. Glover's proposed jury instruction on self defense because she failed to present evidence as to all four elements of self defense?

**COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE**<sup>1</sup>

Appellant Jeanette Glover was arrested and charged with Criminal Domestic Violence under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-20 (Supp. 2015)<sup>2</sup> on January 2, 2015. On June 9, 2015, Ms. Glover was tried by a jury in the Municipal Court for the City of Orangeburg before the Honorable Barney M. Houser. (Return, R. at 2.) Ms. Glover did not assert self defense as a defense or notify the State that she intended to present a defense of self defense. At the conclusion of the State's case, she moved orally for a directed verdict, arguing the State did not disprove the elements of self defense beyond a reasonable doubt. (Trial Tr. at 40:1-40:2, R. at 46; Trial Audio Recording Track 03 at 0:02-1:06, R. at 6.) After hearing arguments from both parties, the trial court denied the motion, noting Ms. Glover had not claimed self defense at the time she moved for a directed verdict and finding that the State was not obligated to disprove the elements of self defense until the defendant claimed it as a defense. (Trial Tr. at 42:11-43:12, R. at 48-49; Trial Audio Recording Track 03 at 4:50-6:15, R. at 6.) Even after this ruling, Ms. Glover chose not to present a case in chief, resting her case without calling any witnesses or presenting any evidence. (Trial Tr. at 44:2-44:5, R. at 50; Trial Audio Recording Track 04 at 0:00-0:06, R. at 6.) At the close of evidence, Ms. Glover requested a jury charge on self defense, which the court declined to give.

At the conclusion of the one-day trial, the case was submitted to the jury, which returned a guilty verdict. (Trial Tr. at 66:2-66:11, R. at 72; Trial Audio Recording Track 07 at 0:21-0:32, R. at 6.) Ms. Glover was convicted of a first offense under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-20 (Supp. 2015)

---

<sup>1</sup> Respondent does not agree to be bound by Appellant's Statement of the Case and includes its own statement as provided by Rule 208(b)(2), SCACR.

<sup>2</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-20 was substantially amended effective June 4, 2015 when the South Carolina Criminal Domestic Violence law was overhauled. However, the applicable statute under which Appellant was charged, tried, and convicted was the version in effect before the June 4, 2015 amendment.

and sentenced to 30 days imprisonment or a fine of \$2,130, with the provision that the sentence would be completely suspended upon the completion of a six-month batterers' management program. (Trial Tr. at 67:14–68:2, R. at 73-74; Trial Audio Recording Track 08 at 0:24–0:31, R. at 6; *see also* Municipal Court Disposition Sheet, R. at 1.)

The following day—June 10, 2015—Ms. Glover appealed her conviction and sentence to the Circuit Court. Judge Houser filed his Return on June 29, 2015. The appeal was heard by the Honorable Maite Murphy in the Court of Common Pleas for Orangeburg County, South Carolina on September 28, 2015. (*See* Transcript, R. at 77-91.) Judge Murphy affirmed Ms. Glover's conviction on April 11, 2016. (*See* Order Affirming Conviction, R. at 4.)

On January 20, 2017, Ms. Glover filed a Motion to Reconsider Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF. (Notice of and Motion to Alter or Amend the Court's Order, R. at 98.) Judge Murphy denied the Motion to Reconsider on March 30, 2017. (*See* Order Denying Motion, R. at 5.) This appeal followed.

#### **COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

This appeal arises from Ms. Glover's battery of her husband. On January 2, 2015, officers were dispatched to the Glovers' residence in reference to a dispute between Ms. Glover and Mr. Glover. (Trial Tr. at 15:1–15:12, R. at 21; Trial Audio Recording Track 02 at 9:18–9:46, R. at 6.) Upon arrival, Officer Robert Gill interviewed the Glovers and took photographs of the parties and any injuries sustained. (Trial Tr. at 18:11–19:10, R. at 24-25; Trial Audio Recording Track 02 at 13:35–14:51, R. at 6.) Mr. Glover told Officer Gill that Ms. Glover had yelled at him and grabbed his face and that he “felt blood dripping from nose.” (Trial Tr. at 17:3–6; 20:12–13; 21:3–6, R. at 23, 26, 27; Trial Audio Recording Track 02 at 11:29–43; 15:42–16:00; 16:28–16:36, R. at 6.) Officer Gill observed visible evidence of facial injury to Mr. Glover. (Trial Tr. at 20:12–21:2, R.

at 26-27; Trial Audio Recording Track 02 at 15:41–16:28, R. at 6.) Ms. Glover told the officer that Mr. Glover had hit her first,<sup>3</sup> but Officer Gill found her account to be implausible because she had not sustained any visible injury and her story was not consistent with the physical evidence. (Trial Tr. at 21:24–22:4, R. at 27-28; Trial Audio Recording Track 02 at 17:27–17:47, R. at 6.) Accordingly, Officer Gill determined that Ms. Glover was the primary aggressor, which resulted in her arrest. (Trial Tr. at 17:25–18:3, R. at 23-24; Trial Audio Recording Track 02 at 12:35–12:45, R. at 6.) Mr. Glover subsequently drafted a formal written statement largely corroborating his statements to Officer Gill on the night in question. (Voluntary Statement of Leroy Glover, January 2, 2015, R. at 113.)

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

When considering an appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court “views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State.” *State v. Butler*, 407 S.C. 376, 381, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014). “If there is *any* direct evidence or *any* substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” *State v. Weston*, 367 S.C. 279, 292–93, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006) (citations omitted) (emphasis added). “When considering directed verdict motions, neither the trial court nor the appellate court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence,” *Erickson v. Jones Street Publishers, LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 463, 629 S.E.2d 653, 663 (2006), and an appellate court will reverse the denial of a directed verdict “only when there is *no* evidence to support the ruling below,” *Steinke v. S.C. Dep’t of LLR*, 336 S.C. 373, 386, 520 S.E.2d 142, 148 (1999) (emphasis added).

---

<sup>3</sup> Contrary to the assertion in Ms. Glover’s Initial Brief, there was no testimony that Mr. Glover struck Ms. Glover with a “closed fist.”

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial court’s decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.” *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000) (citations omitted). “When instructing the jury, the trial court is required to charge only principles of law that apply to the issues raised in the pleadings and developed by the evidence in support of those issues.” *Id.* at 390, 529 S.E.2d at 539 (citations omitted).

#### ARGUMENT

This appeal seeks to fundamentally change South Carolina criminal law by adding *de facto* elements that must be proven in every criminal offense for which self defense could be asserted as a defense, regardless of whether those elements are actually part of the offense and regardless of whether the defendant actually seeks to claim self defense. By arguing that the State has the burden to disprove all elements of self defense even if the defendant does not raise it as a defense, Ms. Glover asserts that the State must presumptively and preemptively introduce evidence to disprove a defense that has never been raised, or else the defendant must be acquitted as a matter of law. On its face, this argument is logically flawed and cannot be supported under South Carolina law.

When a defendant asserts that she should not be convicted of a crime because she was acting in self defense, South Carolina law places the burden on the State to prove that the defendant was not acting in self defense. However, when the defendant does not claim self defense, there is no such burden on the State. If the Court were to find in favor of Ms. Glover in this appeal, the Court would be inserting a never-recognized presumption into every criminal offense requiring the finder of fact to presume that a defendant acted in self defense unless proven otherwise. Under the framework presented by Ms. Glover, there would be no requirement that a defendant even claim that she acted in self defense; rather, the elements of self defense would be automatically

merged into every applicable criminal offense as additional elements that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt.

**I. MS. GLOVER WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A DIRECTED VERDICT BECAUSE SHE FAILED TO PROPERLY AND TIMELY RAISE THE CLAIM OF SELF DEFENSE.**

At the close of the State's case at trial, Ms. Glover orally moved for directed verdict, arguing the State had not borne its burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that Ms. Glover had not battered her husband in self defense. (Trial Tr. at 40:1–40:2, R. at 46; Trial Audio Recording Track 03 at 1:04–08, R. at 6.) The trial court denied the motion, noting Ms. Glover had not claimed self defense at the time she moved for a directed verdict and finding that the State was not obligated to disprove the elements of self defense until the defendant claimed it as a defense. (Trial Tr. at 42:11–43:12, R. at 48-49; Trial Audio Recording Track 03 at 4:50–6:15, R. at 6.) Ms. Glover now erroneously argues this constituted reversible error. *See* Appellant's Brief at 4–5.

Ms. Glover's argument incorrectly assumes that in every prosecution involving a crime for which a defendant *could* claim self defense, the State has an affirmative duty to preemptively disprove the elements of self defense during the State's case in chief, even if the defendant has not raised the defense and has given no indication she intends. This is indisputably false. South Carolina precedent is clear that the State's duty to disprove a claim of self defense arises only after the defendant has asserted that defense. *See, e.g., State v. Dickey*, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011) (“*[W]hen a defendant claims self-defense, the State is required to disprove the elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt.*”) (citation omitted) (emphasis added);<sup>4</sup> *State*

---

<sup>4</sup> Ms. Glover relies on *Dickey*, *see* Appellant's Brief at 5, but fails to acknowledge the defendant in *Dickey* did precisely what Ms. Glover failed to do here, namely assert a claim of self defense that placed the burden on the State to rebut that claim. *See Dickey*, 394 at 498, 716 S.E.2d at 100 (“*At the beginning of Petitioner's September 2006 trial, his counsel moved for the dismissal of Petitioner's murder charge pursuant to the recent enactment of the 'Protection of Persons and Property Act,' which codified the common law Castle Doctrine.*”) (emphasis added).

*v. Burkhart*, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 303 (2002) (“Current law requires the State to disprove self-defense, *once raised by the defendant*, beyond a reasonable doubt.”) (quoting *State v. Wiggins*, 330 S.C. 538, 544, 500 S.E.2d 489, 492–93 (1998)) (emphasis added).<sup>5</sup>

In this case, Ms. Glover failed to raise the claim of self defense at any point before her directed verdict motion. As articulated in *Dickey* and *Wiggins*, the State is not required to disprove self defense before the defendant has raised it as a defense. Here, Ms. Glover did not raise her claim of self defense until after the State rested, thereby depriving the State of the opportunity to present any additional evidence to disprove Ms. Glover’s claim. South Carolina law does not require the State to disprove a claim of self defense that has not been raised. Thus, the trial court properly denied Ms. Glover’s motion for directed verdict on the grounds that she did not notify the State that she planned to assert a defense of self defense.

**II. MS. GLOVER WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A DIRECTED VERDICT BECAUSE THE TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE DID NOT INCONTROVERTIBLY ESTABLISH HER CLAIM OF SELF DEFENSE .**

Even assuming the State was obliged to preemptively rebut the claim of self defense during its case in chief despite the fact that Ms. Glover had not asserted that defense (an assumption that, as explained above, is incorrect), the Record presents an additional sustaining ground for the trial court’s decision. *See, e.g., Williams v. Smalls*, 390 S.C. 375, 381, 701 S.E.2d 772, 775–76 (Ct. App. 2010) (noting that “we can affirm for any reason appearing in the record”). As explained more fully below, the trial court correctly denied Ms. Glover’s motion for directed verdict because the testimony and evidence before the jury did not incontrovertibly establish her claim of self defense, and thus a directed verdict was inappropriate.

---

<sup>5</sup> The fact that this requirement is established in case law rather than in the Rules of Criminal Procedure is of no moment.

At the directed verdict stage, a defendant is entitled to a directed verdict on its claim of self defense only if the facts establishing the elements of the defense are uncontroverted. *Butler*, 407 S.C. at 381, 755 S.E.2d at 460 (affirming trial court’s denial of directed verdict on the basis of self defense, noting a directed verdict was inappropriate due to the absence of uncontroverted facts, *i.e.*, there were multiple and inconsistent accounts of the altercation that were inconsistent with the evidence of defendant’s injuries) ; *see also State v. Oates*, 421 S.C. 1, 6-8, 803 S.E.2d 911, 920-21 (Ct. App. 2017) (affirming trial court’s refusal to grant defendant’s motion for directed verdict based on self defense, holding a defendant is entitled to a directed verdict on the issue of self defense only if “the *uncontroverted* facts established self-defense as *a matter of law*,” and noting that conflicting evidence before the jury meant the claim of self defense had *not* been incontrovertibly established as a matter of law) (emphasis in original) (quoting *Butler*, 407 S.C. at 381, 755 S.E.2d at 460).

In the case at bar, the trial court denied Ms. Glover’s motion for directed verdict because the testimony presented at trial demonstrated inconsistencies between her injuries (or lack thereof) and the claim she was attacked by Mr. Glover. (Trial Tr. at 42:22–42:25, R. at 48; Trial Audio Recording Track 03 at 5:17–26, R. at 6.) At trial, the State presented two witnesses: Officer Gill and Mr. Glover. Officer Gill testified that although Ms. Glover told him she was hit first, he determined she was actually the primary aggressor because there were no visible injuries to her face. (Trial Tr. at 17:25–18:3, R. at 23-24; Trial Audio Recording Track 03 at 12:35–44, R. at 6.) He testified that the photographic evidence he collected did not support her version of the story but, in contrast, *did* support the version of events that Mr. Glover explained to him on the date of the incident. (Trial Tr. at 22:11–22:17; 29:19–30:2, R. at 28, 35-36; Trial Audio Recording Track 02 at 18:00–12; 24:49–25:10, R. at 6.) Mr. Glover’s trial testimony—that he had struck the first

blow, after which Ms. Glover scratched him and caused his facial injuries—was contrary to both the written and verbal statements he previously gave regarding the incident. (See Trial Tr. at 34:11–34:21; 36:4–36:11, R. at 40, 42; Trial Audio Recording Track 02 at 29:46–30:06; 31:15–29, R. at 6.) Therefore, the evidence was not uncontroverted as required for a directed verdict in the defendant’s favor, and the trial court did not err by denying Ms. Glover’s motion.

**III. MS. GLOVER WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A JURY INSTRUCTION ON SELF DEFENSE BECAUSE SHE DID NOT PRESENT EVIDENCE AS TO ALL THE ELEMENTS OF A SELF DEFENSE CLAIM.**

Ms. Glover contends on appeal that she presented sufficient evidence on all four elements of self defense to warrant a jury instruction on this defense. See Appellant’s Brief at 7–8. As explained below, her argument is incorrect. Ms. Glover did not present any evidence at all other than the testimony she elicited on cross examination of the State’s witnesses.

A trial judge should not charge a jury with a requested instruction if doing so would submit an issue to the jury that is unsupported by the evidence. *State v. Goodson*, 312 S.C. 278, 281, 440 S.E.2d 370, 372 (1994). A defendant is entitled to a jury instruction on self defense only if there is evidence establishing all of the following:

- (1) he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty;
- (2) he believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury;
- (3) he had no means of avoiding the danger; and
- (4) that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief about the danger.

*Jackson v. State*, 355 S.C. 568, 570–71, 586 S.E.2d 562, 563 (2003). A defendant’s failure to produce evidence as to any one of these elements is fatal to his claim of self defense, and as a result, to his entitlement to a jury instruction on self defense. See *State v. Bruno*, 322 S.C. 534, 536, 473 S.E.2d 450, 451 (1996) (noting the defendant was “not entitled to a self-defense charge, because he presented no evidence that he believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury.”); *Goodson*, 312 S.C. at 280, 440 S.E.2d at 372 (holding the trial

judge did not err in failing to instruct the jury on self defense because the defendant presented no evidence to show that he believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury at the time he shot the victim).

In this case, Ms. Glover failed to elicit any testimony from any witnesses or present other evidence that might suggest she believed she was in imminent danger of losing her life or sustaining serious bodily injury. Further, neither of the State's witnesses testified as to Ms. Glover's state of mind. Accordingly, there was no evidence from which a jury could determine that Ms. Glover actually acted under the subjective belief she was in imminent danger.<sup>6</sup> The trial court correctly determined there was no evidence to demonstrate that Ms. Glover acted under the belief she would sustain immediate bodily harm if she did not protect herself with physical force. (See Trial Tr. 43:1–43:5, R. at 49; Trial Audio Recording Track 02 at 5:30–46, R. at 6.<sup>7</sup>) Nor was

---

<sup>6</sup> Ms. Glover's appellate brief effectively concedes this point, arguing her subjective state of mind can be deduced via a series of logical inferences based on the circumstances, but failing to point to any testimony or evidence establishing or even attempting to opine on her subjective mental state at the time of the crime. See Appellant's Brief at 7.

<sup>7</sup> Ms. Glover erroneously asserts in her appellate brief that the trial court's refusal to direct a verdict was a result of her decision not to take the stand in her own defense and that this ruling constituted an "unconstitutional burden shifting":

Initially, it must be noted that the trial judge refused to provide a self-defense jury instruction because "there was no testimony from the Defense." (Return, R. at 3). In other words, the trial judge refused the requested jury instruction because the Appellant did not take the stand. The circuit court committed an error of law when it failed to overturn this improper, and unconstitutional, burden shifting.

Appellant's Brief at 6. Her argument is incorrect. The latter two sentences quoted above reach a conclusion not supported by the trial court's actual statements. The trial court never stated his ruling was based on Ms. Glover's failure to take the stand herself. Rather, it was due to the defense team's failure to establish the elements of self defense through *any* evidence or testimony. The law is clear that "[t]o establish self-defense, *the defendant must establish . . . he actually believed he was in imminent danger.*" *State v. Washington*, 367 S.C. 76, 81, 623 S.E.2d 836, 838 (Ct. App. 2005) (emphasis added) (citation omitted). In the case at bar, there was no evidence whatsoever to

there any evidence upon which any jury could have found she was actually in imminent danger of death or grievous injury. Indeed, quite the opposite, Ms. Glover’s counsel told the jury the disagreement between Mr. and Ms. Glover was nothing more than a garden-variety marital argument. (See Trial Tr. 11:10–16, R. at 17; Trial Audio Recording Track 02 at \_\_\_\_, R. at 6 (“Couples fight. Not every negative interaction between husband and wife is a CDV. Sometimes things happen. Someone gets mad. Someone yells. Someone touches someone in some way. That doesn’t make it CDV. That doesn’t make it a crime.”).) Mr. Glover’s trial testimony—which contradicted his prior statements and which was contradicted by all the record evidence—is woefully insufficient to establish actual danger of imminent death or serious harm, and thus provides to basis upon which to charge the jury. See *Goodson*, 312 S.C. at 280, 440 S.E.2d at 372 (affirming trial court’s refusal to charge self defense, noting the assertion at trial that the victim “was ‘coming at him’” at the time of the incident was contradicted by all the other testimony and evidence, and concluding there “is no evidence that Goodson was actually in imminent danger”).

In the absence of evidence to support each of the elements of self defense, the trial court was not obliged to charge the jury on self defense, and it was not error for the court to decline to do so. See *State v. Santiago*, 370 S.C. 153, 161, 634 S.E.2d 23, 28 (Ct. App. 2006) (finding the trial judge did not err in refusing to charge the jury on self defense “[b]ecause the record demonstrates as a matter of law the absence of at least one element of self-defense”).

---

establish this element of the defense, and thus the trial court did not err by declining to charge the jury on a defense that had no support in the record evidence.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the decision of the Court of Common Pleas for Orangeburg County, South Carolina.